

Data Transfer Unit

DTU-Pro-S DTU-Pro-S-C

hoymiles.com

Region: Global V202305

CONTENTS

1.	Important Safety Information	02
	1.1 Read This First	02
	1.2 Safety Instructions	02
	1.3 User	02
	1.4 Support and Contact Information	02
	1.5 Other Information	02
2.	Hoymiles Microinverter System	03
	2.1 Microinverter	03
	2.2 DTU	03
	2.3 S-Miles Cloud	03
3.	Interface Layout	03
	3.1 For Wi–Fi Version	03
	3.2 For 4G Version	04
4.	Additional Features	05
	4.1 Export Management Function (RS485 port)	05
	4.2 DRM Port (for Australia and New Zealand only)	05
5.	Installation Planning and Preparation	06
	5.1 Pre-installation	06
	5.2 Dimensions	06
	5.3 System Installation Steps	07
6.	DTU Installation	08
	6.1 Installation Instructions	08
	6.2 Online Setting	08
	6.3 Complete Installation Map	15
7.	Micro Toolkit	16
	7.1 Connect to the DTU	16
	7.2 Field Commissioning and Data Viewing	17
8.	Site Creation on S-Miles Cloud	23
	8.1 Site Creation	23
	8.2 Customer Login	29
	8.3 Browse Station on Webpage	30
	8.4 View Phone App	30
9.	DTU Replacement	31
10.	LED Indicators	32
11.	. Technical Data	33

1. Important Safety Information

1.1 Read This First

This manual includes important instructions for installing and maintaining the Hoymiles Data Transfer Unit (DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C).

DTU-Pro-S is the Wi-Fi version, while DTU-Pro-S-C is the 4G&Wi-Fi version.

DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C is only compatible with Hoymiles new HMS and HMT series of microinverters.

1.2 Safety Instructions

Symbol	Usage	
DANGER	This indicates a hazardous situation that can result in deadly electric shocks, serious physical injuries, and fire incidents.	
U BRNING	This indicates that directions must be strictly followed to avoid safety hazards such as equipment damage and personal injury.	
	This indicates that the act is forbidden. You should stop, use caution and fully understand the operations explained before proceeding.	
Note that only professionals can install or replace DTU		

 \cdot Note that only professionals can install or replace DTU.

- Do not try to repair DTU without Hoymiles' permission. If the DTU is damaged, please send it back to your installer for repair/replacement. Disassembling DTU without Hoymiles' permission will invalidate the remaining warranty period.
- · Please read all the instructions and warnings in the technical specifications carefully.
- Do not use Hoymiles products in a way that is not suggested by the manufacturer. Otherwise it can cause death, personal injuries, or equipment damage.

1.3 User

This manual is only for professional installation and maintenance personnel.

1.4 Support and Contact Information

If you have technical queries concerning our products, please contact your installer or distributor. If further technical support is required, please contact our support team at <u>service@hoymiles.com</u>.

For other questions please contact info@hoymiles.com

1.5 Other Information

Product information is subject to change without notice. The user manual will be updated regularly. Please refer to Hoymiles official website at <u>www.hoymiles.com</u> for the latest version.

2. Hoymiles Microinverter System



The complete Hoymiles PV microinverter system is composed of PV microinverter, Hoymiles gateway DTU and Hoymiles monitoring system S-Miles Cloud.

The microinverter converts direct current to alternating current and sends each module's power generation and operation data to the DTU.

DTU can communicate with multiple microinverters, collect their operation data, and send them to S-Miles Cloud.

On S-Miles Cloud, you can check the real-time data of each PV module and perform remote operation and maintenance.

2.1 Microinverter

Microinverters convert the DC output of PV modules into grid-compliant AC power. They send their operation data and the output information of PV modules to the DTU, which is the hardware basis of the module-level monitoring. With conversion efficiency up to 96.7% and MPPT efficiency up to 99.9%, Hoymiles microinverters rank among the first class in the industry worldwide.

2.2 DTU

DTU is the key component in Hoymiles microinverter system. It works as the communication gateway between the Hoymiles microinverters and S-Miles Cloud. The DTU communicates with the microinverter in a wireless way and collects the operation data of the system. Meanwhile, the DTU connects to the Internet using different communication options such as Ethernet, Wi-Fi or 4G and communicates with S-Miles Cloud. The operation data of the microinverter system will be uploaded to S-Miles Cloud via DTU.

2.3 S-Miles Cloud

It collects the operation data and status of the microinverters in the system and provides module-level monitoring for the users and maintenance staff. The following diagram shows the Hoymiles Microinverter system.

3. Interface Layout

3.1 For Wi-Fi Version





Item Description	
А	SD Card Slot
В	DTU Power Indicator
С	DTU Communication Indicator (with server)
D	DTU Communication Indicator (with microinverter)
E	DTU Alarm Indicator
F	Wi-Fi Antenna
G	RS485
Н	DRM Port (for Australia / New Zealand only)
I	Ethernet Port
J	USB Port
К	Reset Bottom
L	Power Port
М	Sub-1G Antenna

3.2 For 4G Version





ltem	Description
A	SIM Card Slot
В	SD Card Slot
С	DTU Power Indicator
D	DTU Communication Indicator (with server)
E	DTU Communication Indicator (with microinverter)
F	DTU Alarm Indicator
G	4G Antenna
Н	RS485
I	DRM Port (For Australia / New Zealand only)
J	Ethernet Port
K	USB Port
L	Reset Bottom
М	Power Port
N	Sub-1G Antenna

4. Additional Features

4.1 Export Management Function (RS485 port)

The Hoymiles Smart Power Export Management can intelligently control the output power of the PV system, and maximize your power generation without violating grid export regulations. At the same time, this system can also accurately display the power and production of the PV system with the measuring meter, so that users can trade the PV production online based on the data on S-Miles Cloud.

In Hoymiles Export Management solution, Hoymiles gateway DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C and additional meter (CT optional) are necessary. In the case of export limitation, the meter can be installed at the load side or the grid side. As shown below, the gateway DTU will dynamically adjust the PV power production according to the export power or load consumption as measured by the meter, so that the export power does not exceed the preset limit. To display the PV production in an accurate way, the meter needs to be installed at the output of the PV system.



Note: Please refer to Hoymiles technical note "Power Export Management System" for more details.

4.2 DRM Port (for Australia and New Zealand only)

DRM port is provided to support several demand response modes as shown below by connecting external control device with a standard RJ-45 connector. DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C supports DRM0/5/6/7/8 if used with Hoymiles microinverters.

Mode	Requirement	
DRM0	Operate the disconnection device	
DRM1	Do not consume power	
DRM2	Do not consume at more than 50% of rated power	
DRM3	Do not consume at more than 75% of rated power AND Source reactive power if capable	
DRM4	Increase power consumption (subject to constraints from other active DRMs)	
DRM5	Do not generate power	
DRM6	Do not generate at more than 50% of rated power	
DRM7	Do not generate at more than 75% of rated power AND Sink reactive power if capable	
DRM8	Increase power generation (subject to constraints from other active DRMs)	

5. Installation Planning and Preparation

5.1 Pre-installation

5.1.1 System Capacity

The DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C is capable of monitoring up to 99 PV modules. If the communication between the DTU and microinverter is affected by the installation conditions, the number of PV modules that the DTU can monitor may be reduced.

Note: The maximum number of modules is only possible in open space when installation conditions detailed in DTU and microinverter manuals are fulfilled and the microinverter and DTU are properly placed apart as required.

5.1.2 Environmental Requirements for DTU Installation:

- · The DTU should be installed away from dust, liquid, acidic, or corrosive gas.
- · The ambient temperature should be between -20° C and 55° C.

If you plan to install the DTU on the wall, please prepare two #8 (4.166 mm diameter) screws and a screwdriver in advance.



5.3 System Installation Steps

Work that needs to be done on site

Work that can be done either on site or at home. Step 6 must be done correctly in order to complete these steps on site.





6. DTU Installation

6.1 Installation Instructions

- A) Check the box for the following items:
 - ✓ Hoymiles DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C (Two Antennas)
 - ✓ Adapter
 - ✓ Bracket
 - ✓ 5 Pin Plug
- B) Take DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C out from the box, check and tighten the antenna



- C) Choose an installation location. Installation principles:
 - \checkmark Install the DTU on the top floor to increase the signal strength.
 - \checkmark Install the DTU near the center of the PV array.
 - ✓ Install the DTU at least 0.5 m above the ground and more than 0.8 m away from the corner. Note: To prevent signal attenuation, please do not install the DTU above metal or concrete.
- D) Choose the installation method
 - Option 1: Mount the DTU on the wall

✓ Mount the bracket on the wall. Please choose at least two screw holes (one from each side) to fix the bracket (the M4 screws need to prepare by the installer).

✓ Fix DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C to the bracket's upper buckle.



 Fix DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C to the bracket's lower buckle gently until you hear a click. Please make sure that the antennas are vertical to the wall.

Option 2: Place the DTU on table. Please make sure the antennas are vertical to the table.



6.2 Online Setting

- A) Plug in the adapter to power on the DTU.
- B) Download the Hoymiles Installer app.



- C) Choose the way DTU-Pro-S/DTU-Pro-S-C connects to the Internet, and prepare the following items if needed.
 - ✓ For Wi-Fi: The network name and key of the Wi-Fi
 - $\checkmark\,$ For 4G version: 4G SIM card and APN
 - ✓ For Ethernet: Ethernet cable
- D) Set up the DTU connection on mobile phone.
 - \checkmark Open the Installer app on smart phone/tablet and log in.
 - · Click "O&M" on the bottom of the page and then "Network Config".



✓ Select the DTU's wireless network and click "Connect". (The network name of the DTU consists of DTUP and product serial number. In the following example, the DTU ID is 65200316 and the network name is DTUP-65200316.)



E) Set up the Internet

✓ For Ethernet

Connect the router to the DTU Ethernet port with a Lan cable.



Following the successful connection between your app and the DTU, you can click "Network Config" again and enter the Network Config page.

Select "Ethernet" and then click "Send to DTU", and a popup box will appear. Confirm and exit.



The network configuration takes about 1 minute, so please be patient. If the network is not connected, please check the internet as instructed.



Note: If your configuration page is inconsistent with the above, please update the DTU firmware to the latest version.

✓ For Wi-Fi

Following the successful connection between your app and the DTU, you can click "Network Config" again and enter the Network Config page.



Select the router Wi-Fi and enter the password. Click "Send to DTU".



The network configuration takes about 1 minute, so please be patient. If the network is not connected, please check the internet as instructed

d Section	(Section	(

Note: If your configuration page is inconsistent with what is shown above, please update the DTU firmware to the latest version.

✓ For 4G

Insert the SIM Card into the SIM Card slot on the side of DTU until it clicks.



Following the successful connection between your app and the DTU, you can click "Network Config" again and enter the Network Config page.

Select "2G/3G/4G". Click "Send to DTU".



The network configuration takes about 1 minute, so please be patient. If the network is not connected, please check the internet as instructed.



Note: If your configuration page is inconsistent with what is shown above, please update the DTU firmware to the latest version

If the connection fails, you need to fill in APN information according to the following instruction. Pease get APN information from your telecom operator.

Click "Micro Toolkit" on the O&M page and enter the Could Communication page. Then click "Network Config" and enter the APN setting page.

238.44	< Chud Germanatte	A Network Config.
50000 45053 500 500 500 500 500 500 500	Connection Status Last (H) Connected to be perfects and UR Connected from Last Connected thin : Connected thin : Source of Connected to the Wester On Time :	arte congr ingli bonanti: 6256 Parmoni: 6226 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240
Alter Al	Network Config area Tablet of Config Config Config Tablet of Config Conf	Senit to 270
Tures Control Control Alamini Lind		

6.3 Complete Installation Map

Please complete the installation map.

A) Peel the serial number label (as circled below) from the DTU and place it on the installation map.



B) Complete system information of the installation map shown as follows.



7. Micro Toolkit

Micro Toolkit is one of the toolkits that come with the S-Miles Cloud app. It can be used for on-site inspection after the PV power station is complete, so that the operation of microinverter can be monitored without Site Creation.

7.1 Connect to the DTU

- \checkmark Open the Installer app on smart phone/tablet and log in.
- \checkmark Click "O&M" on the bottom of the page and then "Micro Toolkit".



✓ Select the DTU's wireless network and click "Connect". (The network name of the DTU consists of DTUP and product serial number, and is password-free by default.)



7.2 Field Commissioning and Data Viewing

7.2.1 Data Overview

1. Click O&M and enter Micro Toolkit.



2. If you have already created the power station on the monitoring platform, you can directly view the data and information on the overview page.

7.2.2 Add Microinverter

If power station is not yet created on the platform, you need to type in microinverter SN to view power station data as instructed below.

1. Click "Power generation" button

C Company	
Onal contraposition our tool (24) conservation to fair gatheres. Mar- ant contraction (1991)	
Name and Address of Sources	- 5
The second re-	_
Number of State	- ,
STU (sharatao)	
1	
© là ×	0

2. Press the "Add Device" button to add the microinverter to the list. (The microinverter added here is only used for on-site debugging, and it will not be uploaded to the server, nor can it replace the power station creation on S-Miles Cloud.)

Citica - Harrison	7	utan and c	
7	Control pro-	*****	6
/			
<u>a</u>	4	×	Q

3. You can add microinverter via "Automatic Search" or typing in the microinverter ID or scanning the ID.

<u> </u>

4. The search result of microinverters and microinverter added will be displayed in the list. Tap the button on the right if you want to delete it.



5. Confirm that the microinverter ID in the list is correct, and tap save.



7.2.3 View Microinverter Data

1. Click "Power Generation". You can see the list of the microinverter and PV power of each microinverter.

(16:00-000-00		appendant state	-
- Addressed	- C	Sectorer.	
101-010	Generation and	wyhist biowy	
12.022	- 14		
0214210/1088			
CONTRACT.			
No. of Concession, Name	210		
(another states)	111		
10.000	110		

2. If you want to see more details of one microinverter, just click the serial number, then you can check the input and output data on the page shown as below.

(Arter Inda			
s a				
ne de l'entenne l'entenne en elle de la sec l'entenne en elle	n m (i)			
Property and	11 million 1 million			
1 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1	(+ series (+))			
44423474 Pr	Protection and			
Derest gill part	N(Sector) 200			
Hammarke Networks, CTT				

Note: If the microinverter signal is so weak that the real-time data are not updated, move the DTU closer to the microinverter.

7.2.4 View Communication Status with Microinverter

1. Re-enter Micro Toolkit and tap "Connection Status".

< Greenen	
Divid contrelation	
in second and the local second s	
and a francisc first status.	
Contraction and the state of the state	
Nover game attant and something	
Total Jammer W1.74	
Department of the second second	
Normal Article	
re (m)	
Development and a second state	
171 Helenerarian	
The Res of Walters	
N	
A 14 Y	-0
Lur an A	0

2. On this page, you can check the signal strength between the DTU and each microinverter. Tap the signal icon to enter the respective microinverter page (signal quality is constantly refreshing).



3. You can also Tap the button to switch the signal quality and real-time data page.



Note: If the microinverter has no signal, please check whether the microinverter is powered on or refer to the microinverter user manual for troubleshooting.

8. Site Creation on S-Miles Cloud

This is a brief description of how to create a new site. You can refer to "Quick Installation Guide for S-Miles Cloud Online Registration" for detailed account creation instructions.

8.1 Site Creation

1. Install Hoymiles Installer app by searching "Hoymiles" in the App Store (IOS) or the Play Store (Android).



2. Open the app and log in with your installer account and password. If you are a new installer with Hoymiles, please apply for an Installer account from your distributor in advance.



3. Select the "Station" tab on the bottom, and then select "⊕" on the right top side of the page to add station.



Fill in the station details and press "Next". Select one from the three types of plant: Home Plant, Enterprise Plant, and Large Professional Plant.

Renter	- B	
* Elect Name	Newsame	
" Part Tax	Name attact 2-	8
* installed capacity (KW)	10000	8
1 Targe Zone	Manufacture (1000
CANNING	Hild Control of Contro	(minute
Area -	Name and C.S.	Sec. 1
Uplicat triage		Contract Contract
+	li i	
No. of Concession, Name	a hay have set a set	
		14
C ~~		

4. Select owner for the plant. Create a new one if there is none.

3 -	. 3	< Destroyer	
(i) Add some	Q Owner server	Passa arter	
		and the second second	
		loge amount CAUMARDING AND	ine i
		Correction to 1	
		Sogn Account	in the second second
		Certer Intel 1	
		ingto annual t	-
		Care teta	
		logr-sould	in and
		Server sprine (47/1000)	
		Logis account 194141	lane a
		Contraction of the	
		Logic Arrival	
		Comments 1	
		Vide survey	
_	_	-	_
- Penne		C. Partie	- 3
Suger Account	Party and		
* Painword	Time over	Over targe lavits	
· Confern Personal	11 ann 11 11	1-shi wanta perist	
110010	Person		
Email	Thesetw		
Protect	Phone or the		
-		-	
C Inter		Contraction (Contraction)	Mark .

5. Press "Add DTU ID". Scan or manually input the DTU ID.

d Heren 🗇	1	BALDevine	
() salini	- 8131-81	Sec. 19. 20. 3	80
		57456	
		. Foodball	

6. Scan or manually input the microinverter ID. Press "Finish" when all microinverter IDs have been input.

+imi-in	-	80
199-000 19	HI	
and the second second		
198-52. 9		1 A. J. 🖤
110-58		
S adentica		
-		-
1	Trafed	9

7. Customize the layout based on the installation (or click the tick box on the top right to select preset layouts). Then tap "Next".



8. Save the design layout and fill in the information.



9. Upload a picture of the site and tap "Next".



10. Please enter the currency unit and your electricity price. Click the "Networking" button and tap "Save" to complete the site creation.

< -	
Plant Name	test
Cerency Letti	88.5
Unit Electricity Price	0
Vaynut seech for corner	0
Teresting .	0
-	-

- 11. The new site will appear on the station list under the Installer account.
- 12. Please wait about 30 minutes, and the station will appear online where you can see the ID of all microinverters.

13. Networking will fail if the DTU is not powered on. Please tap networking again after the DTU is powered on.



8.2 Customer Login

- A. Please download the End User app by searching "Hoymiles" in App Store (IOS) or Play Store (Android).
- B. Log in with the password and username that have been set up by the installer on the previous step.
- C. Customers will be able to view all details once the data start to upload. If it's the first power station created, normally it takes around 30 mins for the data to come through.
- D. Customers can also view power generation details on the S-Miles Cloud monitoring platform at global.hoymiles.com.

8.3 Browse Station on Webpage

Log in to your account and browse the station on webpage.



8.4 View Phone App

Download the app on your mobile phone and view station information.



9. DTU Replacement

- 1. If you need to replace the original DTU, please complete the installation according to the instructions in this manual. Otherwise data on the monitoring platform may be lost.
- 2. Log in to your account on the web. Select "Devices > Action > Device Maintenance" for the plants that need a DTU replacement.



3. Click "Replace Device", enter the current device SN and click "OK" to complete DTU replacement.



10.LED Indicators

You can also learn about the system status via LED indicators.

LED Mark	LED Color	Description	
Ф		DTU power on or power off	
0		Network communication	
ţţ		Microinverter communication	
\land		Fault State	

	States
LEV	Sidles

LED Indicator	Status	Description	
All		Firmware upgrading	
		Starting up	
ds		DTU power on	
0		DTU power off	
		DTU is communicating with Hoymiles S-Miles Cloud	
Q	шшшш	Internet disconnected	
		Internet connected and server disconnected	
		Local app connected	
		DTU is connecting to microinverters	
t		No MI ID (Please create power station on the web)	
		MI IDs Incomplete	
		Normal	
Δ		DTU alarm occurred	
		Microinverter alarm occurred	
		Meter alarm occurred	

11. Technical Data

Model	DTU-Pro-S (Wi-Fi Version)	DTU-Pro-C (4G Version)	
Communication to Microinverter			
Signal	Sub-1G		
Maximum distance (open space)	400 m		
Monitoring data limit from solar panels 1	99		
Communication to S-Miles Cloud			
Ethernet	RJ45 × 1, 10	0Mbps	
Wireless ²	Wi-Fi: 802.11b/g/n	4G: TDD-LTE, FDD-LTE 3G: SCDMA 2G: GSM/GPRS	
Sample rate	Per 15 min	utes	
Communication to Peripherals			
RS485	COM × 1, 9600bps, Modbus-RTU		
Ethernet	RJ45 × 1, Mod	bus-TCP	
DRM (For AU/NZ only)	RJ45 × 1, DRM0/5/6/7/8		
Interaction			
LED	LED Indicator × 4 – RUN, Cloud, MI, ALM		
APP	S-Miles Toolkit		
Power Supply (Adapter)			
Туре	External adapter		
Adapter input voltage/frequency	100 to 240 V AC/!	50 or 60 Hz	
Adapter output voltage/current	5 V/2 A	N Contraction of the second seco	
Power consumption	Typ. 1.5 W / Max. 3.0 W	Typ. 2.5 W / Max. 5.0 W	
Mechanical Data			
Ambient temperature (°C)	-20 to +55		
Dimensions (W \times H \times D mm)	$200 \times 101 \times 29$ (without antennas)		
Weight (kg)	0.20		
Installation method	Wall mounting / Desktop mounting		
Environmental rating	Indoor-IP20		
Compliance			
Certificates	CE, FCC, IC, RCM, Anatel		
Microinverter Compatibility			
Microinverter model	HMS series, HMT series		

*1 This depends on the installation environment. Please refer to user manual for more details.

*2 Extended antenna is recommended if the DTU is installed inside a metal box or under a metal/concrete roof.

FCC Caution:

This device complies with part 15 of the FCC Rules. Operation is subject to the following two conditions: (1) This device may not cause harmful interference, and (2) this device must accept any interference received, including interference that may cause undesired operation.

Any changes or modifications not expressly approved by the party responsible for compliance could void the user's authority to operate the equipment.

Note: This equipment has been tested and found to comply with the limits for a Class B digital device, pursuant to part 15 of the FCC Rules. These limits are designed to provide reasonable protection against harmful interference in a residential installation. This equipment generates, uses and can radiate radio frequency energy and, if not installed and used in accordance with the instructions, may cause harmful interference to radio communications. However, there is no guarantee that interference will not occur in a particular installation. If this equipment does cause harmful interference to radio or television reception, which can be determined by turning the equipment off and on, the user is encouraged to try to correct the interference by one or more of the following measures:

- Reorient or relocate the receiving antenna.
- Increase the separation between the equipment and receiver.
- Connect the equipment into an outlet on a circuit different from that to which the receiver is connected.

- Consult the dealer or an experienced radio/TV technician for help.

This device complies with FCC radiation exposure limits set forth for an uncontrolled rolled environment. This device should be installed and operated with a minimum distance of 20cm between the radiator and your body.

ISED Caution:

This device complies with Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada (ISED) licence-exempt RSS standard(s). Operation is subject to the following two conditions: (1) This device may not cause harmful interference, and (2) this device must accept any interference received, including interference that may cause undesired operation.

This equipment complies with ISED radiation exposure limits set forth for an uncontrolled environment. This equipment should be installed and operated with minimum distance 20cm between the radiator and your body. This transmitter must not be co-located or

operating in conjunction with any other antenna or transmitter.

Cet appareil est conforme à la ou aux normes RSS exemptées de licence pour Innovation,

Science et développement économique Canada. Le fonctionnement est soumis aux deux conditions suivantes: (1) ce dispositif ne peut pas causer d'interférence nocive, et (2) ce

dispositif doit accepter toute interférence reçue, y compris les interférences pouvant causer un fonctionnement indésirable.

Cet équipement respecte les limites d'exposition aux rayonnements ionisants fixées pour un environnement non contrôlé. Cet équipement doit être installé et utilisé avec une distance minimale de 20cm entre le radiateur et votre corps. Cet émetteur ne doit pas être localisé ou fonctionner en conjonction avec une autre antenne ou un autre émetteur.

Caution:

This radio transmitter IC:24490-DTUPROS have been approved by Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada to operate with the antenna types 2.4G WIFI Stick Antenna 4.8dBi sub 1G stick Antenna 3.36dBi

with the maximum permissible gain indicated. Antenna types not included in this list that have a gain greater than the maximum gain indicated for any type listed are strictly prohibited for use with this device.